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            Chapter One

            EARLY GLOUCESTERSHIRE

         

         Who lived here first – and why?

         From the lush pastures of the Severn Vale to the high, bare, stonewalled Cotswold plateau, along the steep and indented escarpment and then down through its winding broken valleys to the wooded secrecy of the Forest of Dean, Gloucestershire has a rich and diverse landscape whose promise of trading and agricultural opportunities was recognised by the earliest tribes to inhabit the area, and all who followed them.

         This rough rectangle of a county has an area of nearly a million and a half acres and, being strategically positioned between Oxfordshire in the east, Wiltshire in the south, and Worcestershire in the north, with Herefordshire and the Welsh Marches to the west, it has particularly good motorway links to both north and west by virtue of the M5, and to London via the M4.

         Far from being a natural landscape, Gloucestershire’s beautiful countryside has been shaped by the activities of the people who have made their living from the land over the past four thousand years, so that every grassed-over track, every wood, every field has its own story to tell – if only we could hear it.

         Outside the busy, thriving towns and beyond the roar of modern traffic lies a gentler, more peaceful world, where the lovely tracery of dry-stone walls crisscrossing the old sheep-walks bears witness to uncountable hours of skilled work, constantly renewed as sections collapsed and had to be restored, while isolated farms and villages huddled against valley slopes blend so perfectly in their surroundings that they seem to have grown from the soil itself.

         Over the ages successive waves of invaders ranging from Celtic tribesmen to twenty-first century film stars and Russian oligarchs have settled in the Cotswolds and taken possession of the land they needed to mould into their own patches of heaven.
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               Everard Parry and his son Ryan still practise the ancient craft of dry stone walling in the country around Minchinhampton. Gloucestershire’s characteristic walls require continual maintenance, and are liable to sudden collapse after frost damage.

            

         

          As a result you rarely travel more than a few miles without finding a prehistoric barrow, iron age fort, Roman villa, Saxon church or Norman castle to bring the past vividly to mind. Nearer our own time, magnificent cathedrals and noblemen’s houses recreate the splendours of former ages, and glorious gardens are still being established today.

         So much has happened in the county, it contains so many architectural treasures and places of historical interest, and has given birth to such a variety of world-famous figures that any selection must be a purely personal one, chosen to give an overall snapshot of how each area developed its character and appearance.

         So who were the peoples who first settled in Gloucestershire, and what made them come here?

         Certainly one of the keys to its allure in ancient times was the River Severn – Milton’s Sabrina Fair – at over 200 miles the longest river in Britain, which rises in Wales and finally debouches into the Bristol Channel, forming a natural barrier against the wild mountains to the west and the fierce hungry tribes who lived there. Before the establishment of roads and tracks, the Severn was a vital conduit for the transport of goods and people between early trading posts both up and downstream.

         There was already an effective system of river traffic in Neolithic times. Around 2,550 BC Stonehenge’s famous Bluestones were rafted from the Welsh mountains along the Bristol Channel, then up the rivers Avon and Wylye before being dragged on rollers overland to their destination near Salisbury. It is hard to imagine exactly how our distant ancestors moved these heavy, unwieldy objects such a distance, or guess why they felt it necessary to do so, but no doubt they would look with similar puzzlement on our own costly efforts to reach the moon and stars.

         Over the centuries, tribes armed with bronze tools and weapons, came over the sea from the western fringes of the Continent and gradually displaced Neolithic Man, driving him ever farther into the forests and mountains, until all that was left to remind us of him were the remnants of his henges and standing stones, and the many long barrows, or ‘tumps’ in which he buried his dead. These ‘hollow hills’ or ‘fairy hills’ are spooky places which easily spawn superstitions and legends. Belas Knap near Winchcombe on the edge of the Cotswold escarpment is 178 feet long and 18 feet high and within its four small chambers the remains of 38 bodies are scattered. Hetty Pegler’s Tump, above the village of Uley, has a low entrance into which the stout-hearted may crawl, but you are warned not to stay within for more than two minutes, or you may find a whole day and night has passed without your knowledge. Nor must you eat anything there, or the fairies will never let you go…

         These early Britons built settlements on high points, for easy defence, and constructed the Iron Age forts that overlook the Berkeley Vale. Their principal tribe, the Dobunni, had its capital at Cirencester, (which later on the Romans also adopted as an important hub of commerce).

         Fast forward, then, to Roman times, when a Gloucestershire posting was every centurion’s dream compared to the chilly hell of a remote fortress on Hadrian’s Wall. Making use of the local workforce to do the heavy lifting, the Romans looked around for the most convenient places to plant their settlements. Most of the far-flung Empire’s luxury goods reached Britain via the ports at either end of Watling Street, Dover in the east and Caerleon in the west – the latter being no more than a few days’ easy stages by bullock cart from the big Roman camp at Gloucester, whence they were distributed to Cirencester, Towcester, and all the other ‘cesters’ and ‘chesters’ (echoing the Latin castra, a camp) that maintained the Pax Romana in Britain. Being at the junction of Ermin Street and the Fosse Way, Cirencester was a particularly important hub for commerce.
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               View from the top of Uley Bury, the Bronze Age fort, looking southwest towards Downham Hill.

            

         

         Scratch Gloucestershire, find Rome, as the old saying goes, and it is certain that many yet-undiscovered antiquities must still lie beneath the county’s fields. The Romans were great builders who liked their comforts, and they built to last. Around Cirencester was the equivalent of the stockbroker belt, where luxurious villas equipped with bath-houses, elaborate shrines, underfloor heating and beautiful mosaic pavements are still being discovered. Though some have been carefully excavated and their treasures recorded, others have simply had their position noted and then been covered over again to preserve them for posterity.

         Most spectacular of all is the famous Orpheus pavement which was revealed in all its splendour in the churchyard at Woodchester, near Stroud, in 1793. At 47 foot (14.5 metres) square, it is the largest mosaic yet uncovered, composed of 1.5 million tesserae which depict the lyre-playing Orpheus charming wild birds, fishes and beasts, including lion, tiger, leopard and elephant, with his music.

         Constructed around AD 325, towards the end of the Roman occupation, it was designed to decorate the floor of the great hall in a 60-room villa. This must have been the palace of an important official, quite possibly the Governor-General of Western Britain, since Woodchester is almost equidistant between the important towns of Cirencester (Corinium) and Gloucester (Glaevum) with Bath, the R&R spa the Romans called Aqua Sulis, only a day’s ride to the south.

         The pavement is a work of astonishing beauty and complexity. The design was probably commissioned from the craftsmen at the Corinium School of Mosaicists, and the five basic colours of the tesserae – squares ranging from a quarter of an inch to an inch and a quarter in size – are all available locally. White, yellow, and blue limestone comes from nearby quarries, the ginger sandstone from the Forest of Dean, and red from fired clay tiles.
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               The working party that uncovered the great mosaic at Woodchester in 1926. The Rector, the Reverend Arthur Pink, is in the back row.

            

         

          The central octagon almost certainly had a fountain in the middle, and the eighth side of its surrounding guilloche, or plait, is occupied by the figure of Orpheus, whose music charmed all living creatures. He wears a pointed Phrygian cap, and rests his lyre upon one knee, while his billowing cloak gives an impression of wind movement. His dog is close at his side, and round him flutter birds, peacock and pheasant among them, interspersed with leaves and berries. Two more decorative plaits separate him from the wild beasts – lion, tiger, leopard, elephant and a winged heraldic creature – and below them the head of Neptune, adorned with lobster claws, and surrounded by undulating waves of acanthus.

         Now the problem arose of turning a round design into a square one, which the mosaicists solved by creating four corners and filling the spandrels with lissom, semi-draped water-nymphs, before resorting to a series of richly detailed geometric designs to complete the elaborate pavement.

         Less than a hundred years after the Orpheus mosaic was laid in all its glory, the Romans withdrew from Britain, and it is the greatest pity that the Saxons who succeeded them built a settlement on the site of the Governor’s palace. Their church was where the bath-house had been, and the surrounding area of graveyard occupied the same ground as the Orpheus pavement. As the centuries passed and more graves were dug, sections of the mosaic became irreparably damaged.

         It was not that it was entirely forgotten. Local people knew it was there, but evidently they could find no practical use for the little colourful tesserae, unlike the remaining clay bricks and tiles of the villa, which were recycled into the walls of the church.

         From time to time it was referred to by travellers or diarists, for instance by Bishop Gibson who, writing in 1695, called it a famous monument, ‘having birds, beasts, and flowers all in small stones a little bigger than dice’; and in the early 18th century it was partially uncovered by successive antiquarians, who left drawings of what they had seen.

         However, it was not until 1793 that the artist and antiquarian Samuel Lyson, the foremost archaeologist of the day, spent four years excavating the site, drawing, measuring, and recording what he found. His Account of the Roman Antiquities Discovered at Woodchester is a model of precision and accuracy, and eager crowds flocked to see the marvellous pavement for themselves.

         Its popularity, indeed, became a problem. Woodchester lies in a steep and narrow valley, and crowds of sightseers quickly jam up the little winding approach roads. Since 1793, the pavement has been uncovered for short periods at least a dozen times, with the problem of access and exit becoming worse every time, and when in 1973 some 140,000 visitors came to view it over a two-month period, local traffic was so badly disrupted that a decision was taken to cover it up for good beneath hundreds of tons of sand, soil, and turf.

         Meantime, however, the brothers Bob and John Woodward had spent ten years in the mammoth, self-imposed task of constructing a complete replica, using 1.6 million hand-cut clay blocks on sheets of hardboard which could be moved and displayed in different venues. In June 2010, the entire replica pavement was sold at auction, though a suitable site on which to exhibit it has yet to be found.

         The Roman legions left Britain in AD 410, to attend to troubles nearer home, but although the Roman way of life continued in Gloucestershire for at least another century and a half, the Germanic tribe of Saxons and the Angles, from Denmark, who gradually took over their territory, went about establishing their rule in a very different way. Like encroaching brambles moving from east to west, they leapfrogged forward in small advances and, unlike the Romans, where they put down roots they stayed. Therefore it was not until the battle of Dyrham in 577 that they captured the city of Gloucester, which had fallen on hard times since its glory days as a colonia of the Roman Empire.
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               Part of the animal circle of the great Orpheus mosaic in the Roman Villa at Woodchester. In Greek mythology Orpheus, who is featured in the centre of the composition, charmed all nature with his music.

            

         

         During the fifth and sixth centuries these polytheistic pagans were, by degrees, converted to Christianity, with the strongest resistance to the new religion coming from the serfs and the greatest enthusiasm from the nobility. Between these social extremes, the Saxon freemen, who were tidy farmers and good stockmen, established the great sheep-walks which supplied the woollen trade that became Gloucestershire’s principal export for centuries, while their nimble-fingered women perfected the crafts of spinning and weaving.

         The wide expanses of high, gently undulating ‘wold’ with fine short grass and turf that never grew soggy could supply the needs of countless thousands of sheep. Abbeys and monasteries raised huge flocks of the leggy, fine-fleeced sheep they called ‘Cotswold Lions’, whose wool hung in corkscrew ringlets and could be woven into excellent cloth, and with the proceeds they built handsome churches all over Gloucestershire.

         Saxons set less store on their comforts than Romans, and the wooden palaces built by their noblemen lasted less well. Whether freemen or serfs, the peasants lived in rudimentary cabins, often built over a shallow pit filled with straw for warmth, with wattle-plastered walls and a thatched roof with a hole through which smoke from the fire could escape, not unlike today’s African shambas. These frequently caught fire accidentally – or were deliberately burned by Viking raiders, whose much-dreaded longships would glide up the Bristol Channel and wreak havoc inland.
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               Minchinhampton Common, a 580-acre swathe of high open grassland with public grazing rights. It is the site of prehistoric fields, numerous burial mounds and the remains of an ancient earthwork known as The Bulwarks.

            

         

         This was one good reason for the Saxons to add towers to their substantial stone churches, less for the glory of God than as a good lookout point. Sometimes the tower was equipped with a ladder which could be drawn up to prevent the raiders climbing it. Few Saxon churches remain in Gloucestershire, though a sharp eye can detect parts of them which have been incorporated into later buildings. Triangular rough-hewn stones around window-embrasures are one giveaway, as are pillars constructed in alternating horizontal and vertical layers.

         However one village, Deerhurst, still boasts not one but two recognisably Saxon buildings, St Mary’s Church and Odda’s chapel, which is now incorporated in a farmhouse, but was once part of a palace.

         Finer still are the ruins of St Oswald’s Priory in Gloucester itself, where the redoubtable Lady Aethelflaed, daughter of Alfred the Great, re-used stone from a nearby Roman temple to build a shrine for the relics of St Oswald, King of Northumbria, whose bones – minus skull and arms – she and her brother recovered in a daring raid on Viking territory around 900 AD.

         Those bones, at least, were able to rest in peace, though other parts of poor St Oswald were widely distributed by monks seeking ownership of their miracle-working powers. The bones of his right arm were stolen from Bamburgh, and taken to Peterborough, where a very narrow chapel was built for them, with a monk blocking the entrance twenty-four hours a day in case anyone tried to take them back north. His head – or what was said to be his head – was buried in Durham Cathedral, though at least four other heads at different European locations are claimed as St Oswald’s.

         So the Saxon agriculturalists – both the early pagans and later churchgoing Christians – ploughed their way through Gloucestershire history during the post-Roman Dark Ages, squabbling with their neighbours over boundaries from time to time, but leaving it to a succession of kings with unpronounceable names to take ever more of England under their control. Alfred the Great’s laws served them well until the fateful year of 1066, when England’s king, the childless Edward the Confessor, who had previously offered the throne to William, Duke of Normandy, changed his mind on his deathbed and named Harold, Earl Godwin as his successor instead.

         Furious at being superseded, the Duke of Normandy launched an invasion, landing near Hastings in October 1066 and, in the battle which followed, killed King Harold and changed for ever the course of English history.

      

   


   
      
         

            Chapter Two

            AFTER THE CONQUEST

         

         In Gloucestershire, as in the rest of England, William the Conqueror’s invasion was not unexpected. For months King Harold’s fyrds, or troops, had been on guard duty on the South Coast, but unfortunately when the Normans eventually set sail in September many of the fyrds had been allowed to return home to help with the harvest, while Harold himself had hurriedly taken his remaining fighting force of huscarls and thegns to the northeast, where another claimant to the throne, Harald Hardrada, had joined forces with Tostig Godwinson, Harold’s younger brother, to launch an invasion.

         Marching day and night, Harold’s army covered 185 miles in four days, to take the Norwegian invaders by surprise at Stamford Bridge, in east Yorkshire. In the battle that ensued on September 25th, 1066, both Hardrada and Tostig were killed, and only 24 ships of the 300-strong invading fleet carried home survivors.

         It was a decisive victory, but Harold had no chance to celebrate. Exhausted and battered as his men were, he hurried them south again to face the challenge from Duke William of Normandy, but this second ferocious battle within three weeks had a very different outcome. On 14th October 1066, King Harold was killed at the Battle of Hastings, and ten weeks later, on Christmas Day, William the Conqueror had himself crowned king in Westminster Abbey.

         After the coronation, things moved fast. William doled out great tracts of land to his barons, who hurried off north, south, east and west to secure their new domains. Gloucestershire and a large area surrounding it was assigned to his loyal follower Robert Fitzhamon, who was unusual in remaining faithful not only to William I, but also to his fiery-headed, fiery-tempered third son, William Rufus, who succeeded him in 1087.

         Fitzhamon it was who warned William Rufus of a plot to kill him while out hunting and, when his warning was ignored, it is said that Fitzhamon was the first to weep over the body of that unlovable monarch when he was found dead in his New Forest, felled by an arrow shot accidentally-on-purpose by Sir Walter Tyrell.

         William the Conqueror himself had been born a bastard, though named as his father’s heir at the age of seven, and many of his followers were adventurous younger sons who would not otherwise have inherited large estates. They did not take possession unopposed – far from it. Rebellions were frequent in the first years of transition from Anglo-Saxon to Norman rule and eventually the Pope was moved to reprimand William for his brutal mistreatment of the English.

         Slowly the country resigned itself to the inevitable and recognised that the Normans had come to stay. The new rulers intermarried with the old Anglo-Saxon nobility, and though the incoming overlords were ruthless in enforcing laws regarding their own hunting rights, from the point of view of a serf there was not much difference between being owned by a Norman baron or an Anglo-Saxon thegn.

         Though the new rulers spoke French among themselves, the English – as Anglo-Saxons now regarded themselves – have always had a special knack for corrupting foreign languages and our ancestors soon evolved their own version of the tongue. Very quickly Beau Desert became Bewdesie and Bel Voir Beever, while Fleur de lys morphed gently into Flower Dellis. Legal documents were drawn up in Latin, the European lingua franca which all educated men understood.

         The Conqueror’s grants of land had bought his barons’ loyalty to the crown, but they were a quarrelsome, acquisitive bunch. No matter how much they were given, they always wanted more, and when their wishes were thwarted, they were quick to rebel.

         William de Braose, to whom the Conqueror granted the land west of Hungerford to the Welsh Marches is still remembered for the chain of castles he built to keep the rebellious Welsh subjugated.

         
            
[image: ]
               The remains of the effigy of the Norman knight William de Braose in the nave of St Mary’s Church, Tetbury.

            

         

          He, too, remained loyal to the king who had rewarded him so well, but a generation later his grandson, another William, the remains of whose effigy still lie in the Church of St Mary at Tetbury, took a different view of his feudal obligations. ‘The Ogre of Abergavenny,’ as this second William de Braose was known, was brutal and untrustworthy even by the low standards of the day. He earned his nickname by slaughtering Seisyll ap Dynval and a hundred unarmed Welshmen on Christmas Day in Abergavenny Castle.

         Subsequently, the Ogre stubbornly refused to pay his dues to King Henry I, who succeeded his brother William Rufus. As a punishment he was outlawed and exiled, his lands forfeited, and his unfortunate wife Maud de Sainte-Valerie, who had borne him sixteen children, was immured in Windsor Castle and deliberately starved to death. You crossed a Norman king at your peril.

         The Normans built on a massive scale. Large numbers of their square-towered churches and sturdy fortresses have stood the test of time so well that Gloucestershire is a medieval historian’s delight, still plentifully supplied with relics of the Conqueror’s dynasty, though in the case of the castles different conflicts down the ages have left their mark in the form of battered walls and breached defences.

         One of the few to escape unscathed is Berkeley Castle, which deserves a chapter of its own.

      

   


   
      
         

            Chapter Three

            SPLENDOUR IN STONE

         

         Berkeley Castle

         Imagine a perfect medieval fortress, complete with towers and battlements, motte and bailey, a keep some 60 feet tall, narrow winding stairs with special trip-steps to make invaders stumble, a magnificent Great Hall, and a fearsome dungeon, and there you have Berkeley Castle, the oldest continuously occupied non-royal castle in England, built 850 years ago and still going strong.

         It is one of the chain of Marcher castles that stretched the length of the Welsh border, splendidly sited on an eminence just to the south-east of the town of Berkeley, overlooking the Severn to keep watch on the Welsh across the river. The tower commands a wide swathe of the river banks and surrounding country, which could be flooded if necessary for defensive purposes. Most astonishing of all is the fact that it has been owned and occupied by the same family since Norman times.

         When William the Conqueror embarked on the task of settling his new kingdom and establishing its exact extent, the Domesday Book which he commissioned records the grant of estates at Berkeley to the family of FitzOsbern, Earl of Hereford, who adopted the name of his new possession. The first Roger de Berkeley was only a reeve, or royal tax collector, but very soon he became lessee of the Berkeley estates, though never a baron. 

         Although three generations later the Berkeley family fell out with King Henry II, and he granted the Castle as a reward to Robert Fitzharding, who had bankrolled his successful invasion of England during the final phase of the long-drawn-out conflict between Stephen and Matilda, the link with the original family remained, since Fitzharding’s son married one of Roger de Berkeley’s daughters.

         Most of the building of this massive fortification, which has seen much historical drama, took place in the 1150s and ’60s. The keep and towers surround a large courtyard about 140 yards in circumference, entered beneath a machicolated gatehouse. One side of the court is the great baronial hall, which has magnificent exposed beams and is hung with ancient tapestries, and another tower of the keep contains the dungeon chamber where King Edward II was confined in 1327 and eventually murdered.

         It was the misfortune of this wayward, artistic monarch, who came to the throne in 1307, that not only was his powerful, successful father Edward I – who had subdued the Welsh and was known as the Hammer of the Scots – a hard act to follow, but that his own homosexual leanings made him an object of contempt to the turbulent English barons, who were always ready to exploit any weakness in their liege lord.

         Nor did Edward ll attempt to hide his proclivities: on the contrary he gave most of the jewels which his 12 year old bride, Isabel of France, had received as wedding gifts, to his own favourite, handsome Piers Gaveston, whom he had recalled from exile in France as soon as his father died.

         Young as she was, Isabella – as she is known to us – was outraged by this treatment and mortified to find that her new husband ignored her in favour of Gaveston, but she accepted the situation and became friends with Gaveston. She remained a loyal wife and bore her husband four children before 1325, when she eventually joined the coalition of barons determined to depose Edward. He had been disastrously defeated by the Scots at the battle of Bannockburn in 1314, and his kingdom was sliding into chaos.

         Though the barons had murdered Gaveston, his place as Edward’s favourite had soon been filled by Hugh Despencer who, like his father (another Hugh) was a Marcher lord detested by the barons’ coalition.

         Isabella persuaded her husband to send her to France as an ambassador to her brother, now the French king, to prevent him from seizing England’s French possessions. Crucially, Edward allowed her to take with her their eldest son, his heir, to do homage on his behalf. With the young prince safely beyond his father’s reach, Isabella – later known as the She-Wolf of France – was free to plot his downfall with her lover Roger Mortimer, the Earl of March, and raise an army to invade England.

         Reluctant to start an unnecessary and expensive war with his brother-in-law and disapproving of his sister’s lover, the French king ordered her out of the country, but she didn’t go far. Slipping over the border into Hainault, she offered the hand of her fourteen-year-old son to the Count of Hainault’s daughter Philippa in exchange for troops with which to depose her husband King Edward.

         In 1426, when London failed to rally to his support, the king fled west. He was captured, his favourites the Despencers were gruesomely executed, and the king himself forced to abdicate in favour of his son.

         So far so good for Isabella and Mortimer, but a deposed king is an awkward customer to deal with. So long as he lives, rebels and malcontents are likely to use him as a focus and figurehead for their own plots. On the other hand, regicide is not only a particularly heinous crime but also apt to create martyrs, who may prove equally troublesome from beyond the grave.

         Uncertain what to do with her husband, Queen Isabella ordered him to be imprisoned at Kenilworth and, when that caused rumblings of discontent among Edward’s still-active supporters in the Welsh Marches, had him conveyed to the high security of Berkeley Castle, with Thomas de Berkeley and Sir John Maltravers as his custodians, while she and her lover considered their next move.

         There the unhappy king spent five months lodged in the room still known as his cell. Though treated as a noble guest and allowed his own cook and other servants, he was a captive, and spent his time writing sorrowful religious poems repenting of his sins.

         Finally Isabella must have decided that stronger measures were called for. Towards the end of September 1327, while Lord Berkeley was discreetly absent from his castle, Edward II was murdered, probably by suffocation. Stories of a red-hot poker thrust into his bowels are a later invention, and the myth that citizens of Berkeley heard his dying screams cannot possibly be true. The castle walls are far too thick for that.

         After the King’s death was announced, there remained the problem of where to bury him. Westminster Abbey petitioned for the honour, but Mortimer was anxious to avoid potential trouble during a long journey across the country, so Edward was buried in the most prestigious local abbey.

         The Abbot of Gloucester sent a procession of monks and well-mounted armed retainers to Berkeley Castle, escorting a richly-draped coffin on a bier. The heart of the murdered king was enclosed in a silver casket, his body embalmed and laid in a lead-lined coffin, and conveyed with due pomp back to Gloucester, with members of the Berkeley family in the procession.

         Both the Queen and her son, now Edward III, attended the funeral, and when the new king commissioned the magnificent effigy in Purbeck marble and Nottingham alabaster (the first time this material had been used in the tomb of an English king) under a triple canopy, it became a shrine to which pilgrims flocked, and proved a turning point in the church’s fortunes.

         Though Lord Berkeley was declared innocent of any wrongdoing in the matter of the king’s death, it is perhaps significant that soon afterwards both the Queen and her lover Mortimer were once more being entertained at Berkeley Castle, though they probably kept well away from the dungeon-chamber.

         
             

         

         It was during the next century that a long-running inheritance dispute over the Castle and its lands, which had rumbled on unresolved for two generations, finally came to a head with the death in 1468 of the Countess of Shrewsbury. She had long been at loggerheads with William, the 12th Lord Berkeley (‘two merciless natures not unevenly encountering,’ as one commentator puts it) each encouraging their retainers to fight and raid one another’s manors, and when she died her cause was taken up with vigour by her grandson, Thomas Talbot, Lord Lisle.

         He was only twenty, recently married to the Earl of Pembroke’s daughter, hasty-tempered, impetuous and impatient, determined to settle the dispute once and for all, and the encounter in which the two sides came to blows is often referred to as the last pitched battle between private armies on English soil.

         There are at least two versions of events leading to the Battle of Nibley Green. In the simpler and more likely scenario, Lord Lisle with a small number of armed tenants was ambushed and killed by a stronger force led by Lord Berkeley. Lisle’s manor was sacked and burned, and his young wife was so distraught that she gave birth to a dead child. End of the Lisle claim to Berkeley land. End of story.

         The second version, as outlined in Smyth’s Lives, is an altogether more elaborate affair. In it, Lord Lisle enlists the help of a traitor within the Berkeley ranks, one Thomas Holt, official Keeper of Berkeley Castle and Whitcliff Park, who bribes the porter with the offer of well-paid employment in Lord Lisle’s service if he will open the Castle gates to him.

         At the last moment, however, the porter loses his nerve and confesses the scheme to Lord Berkeley, and in his fury at the miscarriage of his plot, Lisle challenges Berkeley to a duel, man to man.

         Back at once comes Berkeley’s answer. A duel would not settle a legal dispute over inheritance, but why not fight it out in battle? He is prepared to meet all the forces his opponent can muster at Nibley Green, halfway between Berkeley and Wotton, at eight the following morning and, he adds, he himself will not bring one-tenth of the men available to him.

         Still seething with fury, Lisle agrees.

         What Berkeley fails to mention in his challenge is that he plans to call on his brother’s armed retainers from Thornbury as well as his own; nor does he admit that he has already sent a message to Bristol and another to the much-feared miners in the Forest of Dean. The result is that while Lisle barely manages to scrape up three hundred fighters from among his tenants, most of whom have no armour, Berkeley’s army numbers a thousand men.

         The scene is set for a rout.

         Berkeley hides most of his army overnight among the trees of Michaelwood, adjoining Nibley Green, where local people bring them food. When young Lord Lisle is seen riding at the head of his troops down the hill towards the ford at Fowles Grove, (now Foley’s Grove), the Berkeley cohorts emerge in strength from the trees and run to meet them.

         Before Lisle can even get his visor down, a hail of arrows flies across the stream. Lisle is struck in the side of the face by a Dean forester, who finishes his work with a dagger through the joints in the fallen leader’s armour. Lisle’s supporters turn and flee back up the narrow lane, with the Berkeley men hot on their heels, hacking and stabbing. 
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               Berkeley Castle, a 12th century fortification designed for keeping the Welsh out of England.

            

         

         The sack of the Manor, and Lady Lisle’s subsequent miscarriage are common to both versions of this brief and bloody affair, but there are implausibilities in the second story. It would, for instance, have been impossible for Berkeley to gather forces from Thornbury, near Bristol, and the Forest of Dean, to the west of the Severn, within a single day. Nor is it likely that Lord Lisle would have approached the ford with his visor up, or surrendered the advantage of higher ground. The evidence for the Holt plot is a single document at the Castle, purporting to be a copy of the plot documents, and the challenge and reply. Experts believe it to be pure invention, concocted later to use as evidence when Lady Lisle sued Lord Berkeley for the murder of her husband.

         Whatever the truth, it is certain that less than twenty years later, when Henry VII wrested the crown from Richard III, he took legal steps to ensure there should be no more pitched battles to settle quarrels between his subjects by disbanding and disarming all private armies.

         Throughout the next four hundred years Berkeley Castle entertained many exalted visitors, including Queen Elizabeth I, and accumulated many treasures and objects of historical interest that can still be seen by today’s visitors. In 1643, when the Civil War was raging in Gloucestershire, the Castle was first garrisoned by the Royalist Army, but after a nine-day siege the wall was breached and it surrendered to Oliver Cromwell’s Parliamentarians. Surprisingly, the Berkeley family was allowed to retain possession providing they never repaired the damaged wall – a condition which was enacted by Parliament and is still in force today.

         Within the Castle the family lived in considerable state, banqueting in the Great Hall to the music of minstrels, and it was there that a fatal accident befell England’s last court jester, Dicky Pearce, who was born in 1665, and had long been the Earl of Suffolk’s family fool. The medieval equivalent of today’s stand-up comics, jesters were great gossips, always in the know, and though their jokes often had a sharp edge they were allowed a good deal of latitude. After he fell to his death from the minstrels’ gallery at Berkeley Castle in 1728, he was buried in the churchyard of St Mary’s in Berkeley. His tomb, inscribed with a wry valedictory verse, also bears the epitaph: My lord that’s gone himself made much of him.

         
            
[image: ]
               The courtyard and Great Hall of Berkeley Castle: over 800 years old and still owned by the Berkeley family.

            

         

         Fast forward, then, to the late 18th century cause celebre concerning the Berkeley family which enthralled Georgian England. Over the years since the Battle of Nibley Green, the head of the family’s title had become variously Baron, Marquis, Viscount, and Earl as merit and royal favour dictated, and it was during the Fifth Earl’s tenure of Berkeley Castle that the seeds of the legal imbroglio were planted.

         At Lambeth on May 6th, 1796, Frederick Augustus, 5th Earl of Berkeley, married the beautiful Mary Cole, daughter of an innkeeper from Wotton, near Gloucester. The ceremony was rather belated since the happy couple were already the parents of four sons. After the birth of a fifth son in November 1796, who naturally took precedence over his elder brothers since they had been born out of wedlock, the Earl attempted in 1801 to legitimise his bastard children by claiming that he had married their mother in a private ceremony at Berkeley way back in 1785 – and there for the moment, the matter rested.

         After the death of Frederick Augustus, however, in 1810, his eldest pre-marriage son, Colonel William Berkeley, who had inherited the Castle and its lands under his father’s will, tried to lay claim to the earldom, and so began what became known as the Berkeley Peerage Case, heard by the Committee of Privileges of the House of Lords. 

         Appearing for the Claimant were two eminent barristers, Sir Samuel Romilly and Mr Sergeant Best, while the interests of the youngest sons were represented by the Attorney-General and the Solicitor-General, counsels for the Crown.

         So devoted was Mary Cole, now the widowed Countess, to her eldest son that she was prepared to swear that she had indeed been married to Frederick Augustus in a private ceremony in the church in Berkeley long before their more public wedding in Lambeth in 1796, and to back up her assertion the Claimant’s counsel produced what was alleged to be a leaf torn out of the parish register, with a formal entry of marriage signed by the officiating priest – who had unfortunately just died. The entry was witnessed by one William Tudor – who turned out to be William Cole, Mary’s brother – and someone called Barnes – who could not be found.
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